In The Supreme Court of Florida

CASE NO. 95,949

BRIAN McLEAN,

Petitioner/Appellant ,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent/Appellee .

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL MERIT BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS Public Defender Second Judicial Circuit

FRED PARKER BINGHAM II Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0869058

301 South Monroe Street, Suite 401 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2458

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 95,949

BRIAN McLEAN,

Petitioner/Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent/Appellee.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

1. <u>History of the Case</u>

On May 8, 1997, the state charged Mr. McLean by Information with two counts of sexual battery and one count of aggravated battery on a pregnant female, all of the offenses allegedly occurring on April 16, 1997, on the same victim. Count III was alleged under § 784.045(1)(b), Fla. Stat. [R. 8].

On January 8, 1998, a jury rendered verdicts finding Mr. McLean guilty of sexual battery (Counts I and II), and not guilty of aggravated battery (Count III). [R. 73-75].

On February 19, 1998, the defendant filed a timely Notice of Appeal [R. 94].

2. <u>Statement of the Relevant Facts</u>

On January 23, 1998, the court entered a judgment adjudicating Mr. McLean guilty of two counts of sexual battery, each a violation of § 794.011(5), a second degree felony, and sentencing him on each count to 10 years incarceration with a credit for 283 days in custody, the sentence on Count II to be served consecutive to Count I (for a total of 20 years or 240 months imprisonment) [R. 78-84].

The court also entered a written cost order imposing \$50 pursuant to § 960.20; \$3 pursuant to § 943.25(3); and \$200 pursuant to § 27.3455; and "restitution in accordance with an attached order." [R. 81].

On the same day, Judgments and Restitution Orders in the sum of \$90 to the Sexual Assault Treatment Center and \$150 to the Victim Compensation Trust Fund were also rendered. [R. 88-91].

At sentencing, the court orally imposed a sentence of 10 years on each count, count

II to be consecutive to Count I. The court also announced the imposition of a total of \$253 in mandatory costs and credit for time in custody. [R. 191].

The prosecutor advised the court he had prepared two restitution orders. However, the court did not announce that it was imposing or intending to impose restitution nor did the court refer to restitution as part of the sentences it pronounced. [R. 191].

The sentencing transcript further shows that court did not elicit from the defendant or his counsel any comments on whether the defendant wished a hearing to determine whether restitution was appropriate or the amount of restitution that should be imposed, and the court did not inform the defendant that he had a right to an adversarial hearing to determine the amount of restitution. Further, the court further did not expressly reserve jurisdiction at the time of sentencing to later determine whether restitution should be imposed or the amount thereof. Except for the brief comment by the prosecutor he had two restitution orders prepared, the transcript record is otherwise entirely silent on the question of restitution.

However, the court thereafter render two judgments of restitution [R. 88-91].

The record also fails to established that the defendant filed a Motion to Correct Sentence pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(b) relative to the imposition of restitution or in any other manner interposed an objection to the restitution imposed.

On appeal to the First District Court of Appeal, petitioner argued that it was fundamental error to impose restitution under such circumstances in the absence of notice at sentencing of the right to object to restitution and to a hearing thereon, and that "the failure of the court altogether to announce the imposition of restitution and the amount thereof constituted a due process violation when the court then entered restitution judgments against the defendant." [*See* Issue IV]. Based upon its decision in *Locke v*. *State*, 717 So. 2d 1349 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) , *rev. granted*, Case No. 94,396, and *Lorenzana v*. *State*, 717 So. 2d 119 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), the district court concluded that the restitution issue was not preserved for appeal.

On October 19, 1999, this court accepted jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The imposition of restitution without (1) a notice of the right to hearing on the question of restitution, and (2) without conducting a hearing mandated by the statute, was an illegal sentence in that it patently failed to comport with the statutory limitations under *Mancino*. Furthermore, the imposition of restitution in this manner constituted a denial of due process, and thus was fundamental error. The district court's conclusion that the issue was not preserved by objection or motion, even if correct, does not bar addressing either an illegal sentence or fundamental error on direct appeal.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE FAILURE TO ANNOUNCE THE IMPOSITION OF RESTITUTION AT SENTENCING IN THE ABSENCE OF NOTICE TO THE DEFENDANT OF THE INTENT TO DO SO AND IN THE FURTHER ABSENCE OF NOTICE TO THE DEFENDANT OF THE RIGHT TO CONTEST THE AMOUNT OF RESTITUTION AND TO HAVE AN ADVERSARIAL HEARING ON RESTITU-TION, AND WITHOUT SUCH HEARING, CONSTITUTES FUNDAMENT ERROR THAT MAY BE RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON DIRECT APPEAL.

Section 775.089, Fla. Stat., governs the imposition and determination of restitution in criminal cases. The statute provides, "The court, in determining whether to order restitution and the amount of such restitution, shall consider the amount of the loss sustained by any victim as a result of the offense." § 775.089(6)(a), Fla. Stat. It then provides in § 775.089(7):

(7) Any dispute as to the proper amount or type of restitution shall be resolved by the court by the preponderance of the evidence. The burden of demonstrating the amount of the loss sustained by the victim as a result of the offense is on the State attorney. The burden of demonstrating the present financial resources and the absence of potential future financial resources of the defendant and the financial needs of the defendant and his or her dependents is on the defendant. ...

The statute clearly envisions that the two questions involved, whether to impose restitution in the first place, and the amount of restitution, in the second, will be determined by an adversarial hearing in the event the defendant has not stipulated to the amount of restitution and waived a hearing on the issues. Facially, the statute does not expressly require the court to inform or advise the defendant at sentencing that he or she is entitled to such an adversarial hearing and determination. However, particularly with respect to adversarial determinations, due process of law under both the Federal and State constitutions mandates that the defendant be given notice of the intention of seek imposition of restitution and the right to such an adversarial hearing to determine the issues of restitution at the time of sentencing. Moreover, the court is required to announce or give notice its intention to impose restitution at sentencing and the defendant's right to a hearing and, either reserved jurisdiction to determine restitution at a later time if the right to a hearing is not waived by the defendant, or the amount of restitution is agreed to or stipulated to by the defendant. In this case, the court did none of these things at sentencing, but summarily rendered judgments determining the right to restitution and the amount thereof.

Because there was no announcement of restitution at sentencing, there was no basis or opportunity for a contemporaneous objection to restitution by the defendant. However, thereafter, defendant's counsel did not file a Motion to Correct Sentence under Rule 3.800(b) to challenge the imposition of restitution without a hearing as required by the statute. The procedure employed by the court in this case patently failed to comport with the requirements and limitations of § 775.089, and is thus an "illegal sentence." *State v. Mancino*, 714 So. 2d 429 (Fla. 1998)("A sentence that patently fails to comport with statutory or constitutional limitations is by definition 'illegal.'").

An "illegal" sentence constitutes fundamental error. Thus, this error may be addressed for the first time on direct appeal even under the terms of the Criminal Appeals Reform Act, § 924.051(3), Fla. Stat., which limits appeals in criminal cases from a judgment or order of the court to those "properly preserved," or if not preserved, to those that "would constitute fundamental error."¹

In enacting this statute, the Legislature, when incorporating the term "fundamental error," did not seek to define what it meant by "fundamental error," not did it seek to redefine, limit or alter the circumstances in which the courts of Florida had found to constitute fundamental error. Indeed, the legislature must be presumed to have known what constituted fundamental error under the decisions of this state's courts when it employed the same term in the statute. In short, what constituted "fundamental error" as a matter of law before the enactment, remains "fundamental error" after the effective date of the new statute (July 1, 1996), including sentencing errors which had been declared to result in an "illegal sentence" or "fundamental error."

Moreover, this error constitutes fundamental error as a denial of due process. What constitutes fundamental error has numerous formulations and expressions in the cases. It has been said that fundamental error is "error which goes to the foundation of the case or goes to the merits of the cause of action." *Sanford v. Rubin*, 237 So.2d 134, 137 (Fla.1970). "If a procedural defect is declared fundamental error, then the error can be considered on appeal even though no objection was raised in the lower court." *Id.*; *Ray v. State*, 403 So. 2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981). The most pervasive express of fundamental error, however, is in terms of denial of procedural due process: "[F]or an error to be so fundamental that it can be raised for the first time on appeal, the error must

¹"Preserved," for the purpose of the statute, means "an issue, legal argument, or objection to evidence that was timely raised before, and ruled on by, the trial court, and that the issue, legal argument, or objection to evidence was sufficiently precise that it fairly apprised the trial court of the relief sought and the grounds therefor." § 924.051(1)(b), Fla. Stat.

be basic to the judicial decision under review and equivalent to a denial of due process." *State v. Johnson*, 616 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1993). *See also*, *Hopkins v. State*, 632 So. 2d 1372, 1374 (Fla. 1994); *Jenkins v. State*, 444 So. 2d 947 (Fla. 1984).

This Court has previous addressed the question of imposition of monetary obligations upon defendants in criminal cases. In *Wood v. State*, 544 So. 2d 1004 (Fla. 1989), the trial court informed Wood that costs would be assessed again him pursuant to § 27.3455. The court concluded in that case that the defendant had costs and statutory liens imposed upon him without prior notice or hearing, but noted the defendant failed to object to those costs at sentencing. In finding that this error constituted fundamental error, this court said:

Our opinion in *Jenkins* is founded upon constitutional rights of due process and the most basic requirements of adequate notice and meaningful hearing prior to termination of substantive rights or some other state-enforced penalty. In *Jenkins* we held that court costs could not be assessed against a defendant without adequate notice and judicial determination that the defendant has the ability to pay. *Id.* at 950. This holding goes to the very heart of the requirements of due process clauses of our state and federal constitutions. The denial of these basic rights constitutes fundamental error.

* * *

.... It is the rights of these people whom the due process clause seeks to protect, and it is fundamental error for a court to fail to protect those rights. Without adequate notice and meaningful hearing, a court has no way of knowing who should pay costs and who should not. Without adequate notice and a meaningful hearing, the requirements of due process have not been met.

See also, *Henriquez v. State*, 545 So. 2d 1340 (Fla. 1989); *Sliney v. State*, 699 So. 2d 662 (Fla. 1997)(discretionary attorney fees and costs may not be imposed without affording the defendant "proper notice and an opportunity to be heard."); *Bull v. State*,

548 So. 2d 1103, 1104-1105 (Fla. 1989).

Wood, *Henriquez*, and *Bull* all dealt with the question of due process the imposition of attorney costs and liens. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.720(d)(1) specifically requires the sentencing court to notify the accused of the imposition of a lien for services of the public defender, but further requires the court to give notice at sentencing of the accused's right to a hearing to contest the amount of the lien. While the statute permitting the imposition of restitution does not facially mandate like notice to the defendant, it also clearly envisions and provides for an adversarial hearing, as does the attorney lien statute and rule. Impliedly, notice of the right to that hearing is required by the restitution statute. But like the imposition of the attorney liens, notice of the right to a hearing to contest restitution of the attorney liens, notice of the right to a hearing to contest restitution or the amount thereof is required by state and federal constitutions' mandate of due process. *Wood*; *Henriquez*; *Bull*; *Sliney*; *Jenkins*. Here, without a hearing, and without notice of the right to a hearing, the court imposed restitution against the appellant. There was a complete absence of procedural due process in this case.

This Court explained the concept of due process as follows:

.... One of the most basic tenets of Florida law is the requirement that all proceedings affecting life, liberty, or property must be conducted according to due process. Art. I, Sec. 9, Fla. Const. While we often have said that "due process" is capable of no precise definition, e.g. *Gilmer v. Bird*, 15 Fla. 410 (1875), there nevertheless are certain well-defined rights clearly subsumed within the meaning of the term.

The essence of due process is that fair notice and a reasonable opportunity to be heard must be given to interested parties before judgment is rendered. *Tibbetts v. Olson*, 91 Fla. 824, 108 So. 679 (1926). Due process envisions a law that hears before it condemns, proceeds upon inquiry, and renders judgment only after proper consideration of issues

advanced by adversarial parties. *State ex rel. Munch v. Davis*, 143 Fla. 236, 244, 196 So. 491, 494 (1940). In this respect the term "due process" embodies a fundamental conception of fairness that derives ultimately from the natural rights of all individuals. See art. I, Sec. 9, Fla. Const.

Scull v. State, 569 So. 2d 1251, 1252 (Fla. 1990). Such denial of due process is fundamental error, and may be addressed on direct appeal notwithstanding the failure to interpose a contemporaneous objection below or to move to correct the sentence under Rule 3.800(b). Indeed, because the error would have been perceived by trial counsel as fundamental error, imposed in the absence of notice of the right to a hearing and without a hearing mandated by the statute, counsel could have very likely concluded that under the Criminal Appeals Reform Act, which permitted fundamental error to be raised on appeal without other preservation, that a motion to correct would be unnecessary as an act to preserve the fundamental error for appeal. The district court's conclusion that the issue could not be addressed on direct appeal because it was not preserved by objection or motion, even if correct, does not bar addressing either an illegal sentence or fundamental error on direct appeal under the act.

For each of the foregoing reasons, appellant requests this court to determine that the imposition of restitution without notice of the right to a hearing, and without a hearing, constitutes an "illegal" sentence as well as fundamental error as a denial of due process that may be addressed on direct appeal.

CONCLUSION

Appellant, BRIAN McLEAN, based on all of the foregoing, respectfully urges the Court to vacate the judgments of restitution, to remand the case to the First District Court of Appeal for reconsideration, and to grant all other relief which the Court deems just and equitable.