IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRIAN MCLEAN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 95,949

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414 3300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent State of Florida was the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court and will be referred to as respondent, the prosecution, or the state. Petitioner BRIAN McLean was the Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, and will be referred to as the petitioner, the defendant, or by proper name.

The record on appeal consists of four volumes. Pursuant to Rule 9.210(b), Fla. R. App. P. (1997), this brief will refer to a volume according to its respective designation within the Index to the Record on Appeal. A citation to a volume will be followed by any appropriate page number within the volume. "IB" will designate Petitioner's Initial Brief, followed by any appropriate page number.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

This brief was prepared using New Courier 12 font.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts petitioner's statement of the case and facts but for clarity supplements with the following.

At the sentencing hearing on 23 January 1998, after informing petitioner of his right to appeal the sentence, the prosecutor stated:

MS. WRIGHT: Your Honor, the State has also provided for the Court the DNA Data Bank order to draw the defendant's blood. And

- 1 -

I believe there is no objection. I also have two restitution orders for the victim's rape exam. In addition, in case 97-4555 CF-A, the state would announce a nolle pros code 30.

THE COURT: And obviously we'll give him credit for the time that he has already served on both of those counts.

(Whereupon, the proceedings in the above-mentioned matter were concluded.) I191.

There was no objection and the trial court then signed, on the same date, the three orders referred to by the prosecutor. I87-91. The first restitution order refers to section 775.089, Florida Statutes and requires petitioner to pay restitution costs of \$90 for the sexual assault examination given to her. I88-89. The second order also refers to section 775.089 and requires petitioner to pay restitution of \$150 to the Victim Compensation Trust Fund. I90-91.

The notice of appeal was filed on 19 February 1998. I94. The record on appeal does not contain a rule 3.800(b) motion challenging any sentencing error.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court decision should be approved on the authority of §924.051(3), Florida Statutes and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.140(d). Petitioner was afforded at least two opportunities and thirty days to challenge the two statutorily mandated restitution orders. He failed to do so, probably for the very good reason that both he and his trial counsel knew very well that the restitution orders were solidly grounded on statute and there was no error on which to object. There is no reason why a change in counsel from trial to appellate should justify starting over and raising claims which have been abandoned in the trial court.

In any event, the issue here is almost certainly controller by numerous cases which have been under review in this Court for a year or more.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO ADDRESS A ROUTINE SENTENCING CLAIM WHICH WAS NOT RAISED IN THE TRIAL COURT? (Restated)

There was a colloquy in the court in the presence of the defendant and his trial counsel concerning the three routine orders which the prosecutor asked the trial court to sign. There was even an explicit reference by the prosecutor to there being no objection to the first order, which implicitly alerted the defendant and his counsel to the right to object to the other two orders. The trial court, without objection, proceeded to sign the three orders, including the two at issue here, on the same date as the sentencing proceeding. It is likely that the signature was done at the hearing itself.

Petitioner and his counsel not only had an opportunity to contemporaneously object at the sentencing hearing, they had an additional thirty day to challenge the restitution orders pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b). They did not do so and should not be permitted to challenge the sentence on appeal contrary to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.140(d) which explicitly prohibits appeals of sentencing claims which have not been properly preserved in the trial court.

The two restitution orders themselves are pursuant to statute and petitioner has made no suggestion that they would not be immediately reimposed if this Court performed the useless action of reversing and remanding for resentencing. There is well

- 4 -

settled case law which, although it is often ignored¹, has not been overruled that no court is required to perform a useless act. <u>State v. Strasser</u>, 445 So.2d 322, 323 (Fla. 1983):

On virtually identical facts, in <u>Burney</u>, the Second District refused to remand for new trial, noting, "We are not required to do a useless act nor are we required to act if it is impossible for us to grant effectual relief." 402 So.2d at 39. We agree. Strasser would gain nothing from a new trial. The only effect would be to increase the pressures on the already overburdened judicial system and, ultimately, on the taxpayer. We will not ignore the substance of justice in a blind adherence to its forms.

The state maintains that the district court did not err in refusing to address the untimely and non-meritorious claim of sentencing error. In any event, this and similar issues have been before this Court for sometime in various cases which will presumably resolve the issue here. See, e.g., <u>Hyden v. State</u>, 715 So.2d 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) and <u>Maddox v. State</u>, 708 So.2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), both of which are under review here as case numbers 93,966 and 92,805, respectively.

The state also notes that rule changes promulgated by this Court on 12 November 1999 as <u>Amendments to Florida Rules of</u> <u>Criminal Procedure 3.111(e), 3.800 and Florida Rules of Appellate</u> <u>Procedure 9.010(h), 9.140, and 9.600</u>, case no. 95,707 probably moot the issue in any event. Under the new rules, petitioner's appellate counsel here, assuming he believed in good faith there

¹Although not referring specifically to the judicial system, Harry S. Truman once cogently stated that there was not much new in the world, just a lot of ignorance about what had already happened.

was a prejudicial error, could have moved the trial court by rule 3.800(b), as amended, to challenge the alleged sentencing error. The state notes in fact that since 12 November 1999, counsel for such appellants have been filing rule 3.800(b) motions in the trial court.

CONCLUSION

The district court decision should be affirmed.